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Disclaimer
The following answers are based on California Energy Commission (CEC) staff’s interpretation of the questions received. It is the Applicant’s responsibility to review the Grant Funding Opportunity (GFO) Solicitation Manual and to determine whether their proposed project is eligible for funding by reviewing the Eligibility Requirements within the solicitation. The CEC cannot give definitive advice as to whether a particular project is eligible for funding, because not all proposal details are known.
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[bookmark: _Toc214629944]Key Changes
Application Deadline Extension
· CEC staff will be issuing an addendum to extend the submission deadline to January 30, 2026, at 11:59 p.m. (from December 18, 2025, at 11:59 p.m.). 
[bookmark: _Toc214629945]General/Administrative
Q1 – Is the CEC able to share the attendees in the meeting in order to facilitate partnering on this Grant Opportunity?
CEC: Yes. The Applicants can submit a request to the Kevyn Piper, Commission Agreement Officer, via email Kevyn.Piper@energy.ca.gov requesting a copy of the attendees list. The CEC encourages applicants interested in applying for a CEC grant to join Empower Innovation, an online platform designed specifically for the cleantech community, which provides a great networking opportunity for individuals and organizations exploring our funding opportunities. The Empower Innovation link for CHOIR is at https://www.empowerinnovation.net/en/custom/funding/view/49300#. The questions and answers (Q&A) will be posted at https://www.energy.ca.gov/solicitations/2025-10/gfo-25-302-coordinated-holistic-orchestration-inverter-based-resources-choir.
(Duplicate/similar questions included in response.)
· Will all Q&As be published with attribution of Questioner?
· Will attendees list and questions asked on this pre-bid be available prior to deadline to submit questions, just in case further questions are identified?
· Will the attendee list be made available for us to explore partners?
Q2 – Can you elaborate on the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requirements? It seems like CEC will be the one submitting the information for CEQA review if it is required for the specific installation - is this true?
CEC: CEQA requirements must be completed before the CEC can approve and encumber an award. Applicants are responsible for providing all CEQA-related information through Attachment 07 (CEQA Compliance Form) and for coordinating with any public agencies that may serve as the Lead Agency for CEQA (such as a city, county, or other state agency). The CEC is typically a Responsible Agency that relies on environmental documents prepared by the Lead Agency; however, if no other public agency has approval authority and the project is not exempt, the CEC may act as the Lead Agency and would need to complete its own CEQA review.
If the CEC determines that CEQA review cannot likely be completed in time, it may cancel a proposed award and fund the next highest-scoring Applicant. Please review Section I.I: Additional Requirements Regarding Environmental Review, and Attachment 07: CEQA Compliance Form for full details.
Q3 – What is the requirement for “community-based organizations” in terms of participation (e.g., should prime bidders be community-based organizations? Should bids include at least one community-based organization? etc.)
CEC: The role of a community-based organization (CBO) will vary depending on the project and may include activities such as promoting equitable access, fostering local engagement, ensuring community relevance, and facilitating knowledge-sharing activities with the local community. Applicants must assess the relevance of the CBO and define their roles and responsibilities in alignment with the project's goals. Applicants should also refer to Scoring Criterion 8, “Benefits to Disadvantaged/Low-Income Communities and Localized Health Impacts” to ensure their applications thoroughly address all questions outlined in this criterion.
Q4 – One of the defining properties of the CBO is that they have an office “in the region.” How is region defined here? (County? State?)
CEC: As noted in Section I.B in the Solicitation Manual, a CBO is defined as "a public or private nonprofit organization of demonstrated effectiveness that: a) [h]as deployed projects and/or outreach efforts within the region (e.g., air basin or county) of the proposed disadvantaged or low-income community or similar community."  This is to ensure the CBOs are truly community-based and not just remote operators.
Q5 – Having an investor-owned utility (IOU) as a member of a consortium seems a mandatory requirement for execution of this project; have they been briefed on the expected number of incoming inquiries?
CEC: Applicants are responsible for ensuring the relevant parties for their proposed projects are adequately informed and prepared to support project requirements.
Q6 – Can CEC provide additional information as it relates to Cybersecurity requirements, Data Privacy, and California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) compliance requirements?
CEC: As noted in Section I.C in the Solicitation Manual, “Projects must demonstrate that cybersecurity measures are incorporated and applied consistently across all communication protocol standards and validated against UL 2900 guidelines." Cybersecurity advancements may encompass improved coordination between utilities and aggregators, standardized update protocols across original equipment manufacturers, and the implementation of end-to-end authenticated sessions. Each Applicant is responsible for ensuring that the project complies with California’s comprehensive privacy laws, including the CCPA, particularly when processing consumer data.
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Eligibility
Q7 – Can a community choice aggregator (CCA) be a prime recipient?
CEC: Yes, a CCA can be the prime recipient. Applicants should review the GFO to ensure all applicable requirements are met.
Q8 – Can a CCA be included on a project as a subrecipient?
CEC: Yes, CCAs can be included on a project as a subrecipient. Applicants should review the GFO to ensure all applicable requirements are met.
Q9 – It’s noted in the solicitation, "This solicitation targets third-party aggregators and solution providers." Can universities be the prime applicants?
CEC: Yes, universities can be the prime Applicant. Applicants should review the GFO to ensure all applicable requirements are met.
Q10 – Can an Independent Power Producer (IPP) & developer be a primary applicant?
CEC: Yes, IPPs and developers can be primary Applicants. Applicants should review the GFO to ensure all applicable requirements are met.
Q11 – Can a subrecipient team on more than one prime application?
CEC: Yes, a subrecipient can participate in multiple applications, as long as each engagement complies with the specific grant program’s rules and the subrecipient could fulfill its obligations under each award were they all to be funded.
Q12 – Are sites on tribal lands, given they meet all other location requirements, eligible site locations?
CEC: Yes, tribal lands qualify as eligible site locations provided they are within an IOU service territory and meet all other applicable requirements. Projects benefiting California Native American tribes (tribes) will receive preference points as noted in Scoring Criterion 8, Section IV.F of the Solicitation Manual.
Q13 – Will there be any scoring penalty if the prime applicant is a nonprofit and not a “third-party aggregator or solution provider”?
CEC: No, there will not be a scoring penalty if the prime Applicant is a nonprofit. Each prime Applicant should review the Solicitation Manual to ensure it meets all applicable requirements.
[bookmark: _Toc214629947]Budget/Funding
Q14 – This project effort may require a significant investment in equipment - is it allowable to allocate CEC funds in the budget plan towards equipment, and will that negatively impact project evaluation?
CEC: Yes, CEC funds in the budget plan can be used towards purchase of equipment. As part of addressing Scoring Criterion 5, “Budget and Cost Effectiveness,” Applicants should justify the reasonableness of direct costs for the equipment that they plan to procure and install. 
(Duplicate/similar questions included in response.)
· Can grant funds help pay for the deployment of solar & storage? Or is it limited to software, policy, and other soft costs?
Q15 – If residential battery energy storage systems are installed as part of this project, is it correct that only 10% profit can be made on this?
CEC: Per Section III.C.6.b.3 of the Solicitation Manual, "The budget must NOT include any grant recipient profit from the proposed project, either as a reimbursed item, match share, or as part of overhead or general and administrative expenses (subrecipient profit is allowable, though the maximum percentage allowed is 10% of the total subrecipient rates for labor, and other direct and indirect costs as indicated in the Category Budget tab)."
Q16 – Is there a maximum percentage of budget that can be allocated to installed hardware?
CEC: The Solicitation Manual does not list a maximum percentage of the budget that can be allocated to installed equipment and/or materials. Per Section III.C.6.b.2 of the Solicitation Manual, "The budget must reflect estimates for actual costs to be incurred during the agreement term." Each Applicant should refer to Scoring Criterion 5, “Budget and Cost Effectiveness” and ensure the application responds to the criterion.
Q17 – How much is Funds spent in California an important factor? How much does an offshore development team impact this? What about match funding?
CEC: Per Section II.A.4 of the Solicitation Manual, “the budget must NOT identify that CEC funds will be spent outside of the United States or for out-of-country travel. However, match funds may cover these costs if there are no legal restrictions.” In addition, as noted in Scoring Criterion 6, "CEC Funds Spent in California" on page 49 of the Solicitation Manual, “Projects that maximize the spending of CEC funds in California will receive points as indicated in the table." All EPIC funded activities - including match contributions - must provide direct benefits to California IOU electricity ratepayers. If match funds will be spent outside the United States, the Applicant must clearly demonstrate how the activity supports these ratepayer benefits. Please refer to Sections I.K, I.L, and II.A of the Solicitation Manual for more information. 
(Duplicate/similar questions included in response.)
· The general understanding is we cannot spend CEC funds outside the US; however, we can include UK spending as part of match funds.
Q18 – Can the applicant be allowed to use CEC fund (or otherwise match fund) to provide compensation or incentives to customers with distributed energy resources (DERs) that participate in the services in the pilot demonstration phase? While the solicitation references “customer incentives,” it does not explicitly state whether such expenditures are eligible under the CEC-funded or match-funded portions of the project budget.
CEC: Yes, CEC funds in the budget plan can be used towards providing compensation or incentives to customers with DERs that participate in the demonstration. Applicants must clearly identify the potential customer incentives included in the proposal, detailing them within the budget form. This includes specifying the type, amount, and eligibility criteria for each incentive, as well as how the incentive supports project goals and benefits California IOU ratepayers.
[bookmark: _Toc214629948]Technical
Q19 – Which Specific grid services and market-facing products does CEC aim to demonstrate behind specific feeders and locational grouping?
1. Day ahead and day-off Export to Grid virtual power plant (VPP) events (Demand Side Grid Support Style)
2. Hour-ahead VPP events - but shorter events (1 hour)
3. Hourly Flex Pricing
4. Voltage Management
5. Freq Regulation 
Not all VPP and DERs can deliver all the grid services.

CEC: This solicitation is focused on demonstrating distribution-level power quality and grid services provided by high concentrations of inverter-based DERs aggregated into a VPP. As described in Sections I.A and I.C of the Solicitation Manual, projects must showcase one or more capabilities such as voltage regulation, frequency response, active/reactive power control, congestion relief, support for dynamic hosting capacity, and other services traditionally delivered by centralized fossil-based generation. Because these demonstrations must occur on specific feeders or within a single substation area, partnership with the relevant IOU is essential to integrate with utility Distributed Energy Resource Management System (DERMS) platforms and obtain access to feeder-level operational constraints. While Applicants may choose to stack these distribution-level services with participation in California Independent System Operator wholesale demand-response or capacity markets, the primary objective is to validate that VPPs can reliably deliver local power quality and constraint-management services.
(Duplicate/similar questions included in response.)
· Any chance you can clarify which market products CEC wants in this demonstration? Sounds like they are asking for a lot of different types of grid services.
Q20 – Does the CEC have a priority point of view on a target or minimum aggregation size (e.g., 1MW, 10MW) or just looking for something meaningful on a feeder-level basis?
CEC:  No, CEC staff intentionally did not list a target or minimum aggregation size. As noted in Section I.C of the Solicitation Manual, “The proposed aggregation size must be appropriate for the distribution system context and use case. Applicants must justify that the size is sufficient to deliver meaningful grid benefits and that the project is appropriately scaled and budgeted for the scope of the demonstration.”
(Duplicate/similar questions included in response.)
· Is the goal to validate a minimum aggregation size for support, or is it to demonstrate the technology's capabilities and extrapolate the potential load it could handle?
Q21 – Can the CEC clarify on the interoperability and standards compliance in the grant funding opportunity manual? Is the applicant required to use all these standards (meet all protocols) if the manufacturers don't support them? Otherwise, legacy devices would have to be retrofitted.
CEC:  No, Applicants are not required to address every standard listed. However, it is the responsibility of each Applicant to identify which standards and protocols are applicable to its proposal and to clearly demonstrate how these are being addressed. Proposals should provide sufficient detail to show how relevant requirements are being met and how they contribute to the advancement of the project’s objectives.
(Duplicate/similar questions included in response.)
· Please clarify which Protocols and Standards are recommended to communicate with the investor-owned utilities’ Grid Distributed Energy Resource Management System (DERMS). IEEE 2030.5 is what most of the GRID DERMS vendors use.
Q22 – Are separate gateway devices required? Would the hub on an energy storage system qualify?
VPP(s) must advance in several critical areas as noted in Section I.A of the Solicitation Manual. "VPP(s) must incorporate gateway devices and communication systems that enable seamless, secure integration of diverse inverter based distributed energy resources (IBDERs)."  A hub on an energy storage system could potentially qualify if it functions as a gateway device, enabling seamless, secure integration of diverse IBDERs, rather than a single battery energy storage system from a single original equipment manufacturer. 
Q23 – Must VPP assets be deployed exclusively in a single substation area or distribution circuit, or can they be deployed in multiple substation areas or distribution circuits? If multiple areas are acceptable, must the areas be adjacent or can they be geographically distinct?
CEC: Per Section I.C in the Solicitation Manual, "The demonstration and deployment must be located [in a Disadvantaged Community per CalEnviroScreen 4.0, ]in a California electric IOU service territory and optimized within a single substation area or within a single distribution circuit." 
Accordingly, if an Applicant plans to deploy VPP assets in multiple substation areas or distribution circuits, all substation areas or distribution circuits must be [located in a Disadvantaged Community ]served by a California IOU. In addition, the deployed assets must be optimized to demonstrate one or more key distribution-level grid services such as voltage regulation, frequency response, and active/reactive power control for each distribution circuit or substation area the assets are located within. 
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